

Technical Report

Limnology and Water Quality Program

Litchfield Park Lakes

Water Quality Report Program Update: 2017

Corey Laxson, Elizabeth Yerger, Hunter Favreau and Dan Kelting

Report # PSCAWI2018-04

Table of Contents

List of Figures
List of Tables
Report Summary
Introduction
Historical Perspective
Methods
Field Sampling and Lab Analysis7
Data Analysis7
Results and Interpretation7
Temperature and Dissolved Oxygen7
Trophic Indicators11
Acidity Indicators15
Conclusion and Recommendations17
References



List of Figures

Figure 1. Annual average values for key acid deposition indicators at Huntington Forest in the central	
Adirondacks	6

Figure 4. Lime treatment and acidity indicators of Lake Madeleine 1986 - 2017. Each point represents an observation on a single sample day. Shaded areas for ANC, pH, and calcium represent target values established by Living Lakes (1992). The shaded area for Ca:H represent critical values above 10 (Clayton et al 1998).

Figure 5. Lime treatment and acidity indicators of Heavens Lake 1986 - 2017. Each point represents an observation on a single sample day. Shaded areas for ANC, pH, and calcium represent target values established by Living Lakes (1992). The shaded area for Ca:H represent critical values above 10 (Clayton et al 1998).

List of Tables

Table 1. Water quality indicators for Lake Madeleine during the 2017 field season
Table 2. Water quality indicators for Heavens Lake during the 2017 field season.

Report Summary

The Adirondack Watershed Institute began monitoring the limnology and water quality of Lake Madeleine and Heavens Lake in 1994. The objectives of this work are to track acid and trophic characteristics of the lakes, and to provide recommendations for acid mitigation and lake management. The lakes have been treated with limestone sand at regular intervals since 1986; however, the lakes have not been limed in last four years. This provides us with an opportunity to examine how the chemistry of the lakes has responded to a reduction in lime application. the decreased Understanding response to effort management is important because amendments to the Clean Air Act in 1990 have resulted in a substantial decrease in acid deposition and recent research reveals that many acid impacted lakes are showing signs of natural recovery.

- Lake Madeleine provides cold water and high concentration of dissolved oxygen throughout most of the field season. Dissolved oxygen is depleted to low concentrations in the bottom few meters of the deepest section and this pattern is common in the historical data.
- 2. Heavens Lake provides suitable thermal conditions for brook trout. During the summer months optimal conditions are restricted due to warm surface water and anoxic bottom waters.
- 3. The average secchi disk transparency of Lake Madeleine in 2017 was the lowest observed value in the historical data set. Overall, the transparency of the lake is exhibiting a significant downward trend. This pattern does not appear to be related to nutrients or algal productivity, as chlorophyll concentration has not exhibited any significant trend and phosphorus concentration has been decreasing over time. Analysis of 122 Adirondack lakes, as well as recent scientific publications, suggests the decreased transparency may be a

regional response related to changes in climatic patterns and acid deposition recovery.

- 4. As expected, the reduction in the rate of lime application to Lake Madeleine has resulted in decreased ANC and calcium concentration. Despite these reductions, the pH of the lake has not been affected; it remains circumneutral with no significant change since liming stopped in 2013.
- 5. The pattern in Heavens Lake is similar, although Heavens' pH tends to be lower than Lake Madeline's. The higher elevation, low retention time, and shallower soils of Heavens watershed offer less natural buffering ability. We observed a significant reduction in ANC and calcium since the period of biennial lime application. Despite the reductions in buffering, the pH of the lake has actually exhibited a slight, yet significant increase.
- 6. The lakes provide a suitable chemical environment for the primary species of interest. Brook and lake trout are more acid tolerant than other freshwater fish species. Although the optimal pH range for survival and reproduction appears to be between 6.5 and 8.0, the tolerance range is much wider and likely between 4.0 and 9.0 pH units. The Litchfield park lakes are mildly acidic to circumneutral, suggesting the acidity is not an issue of concern at this time.
- 7. The Ca:H ratios of both Madeleine and Heavens Lakes rarely fall below the threshold level of 10, in fact during the vast majority of observations they are near the optimal value of 100, suggesting that the chemistry of these lakes is favorable to native trout species.
- 8. We recommend that the acid mitigation strategy employed at Litchfield Park be changed from biennial application to only when necessary. The liming option should be discussed when the pH of either of the water bodies falls below 6.0 pH units.

Introduction

Lake Madeleine and Heavens Lake are two water bodies in Litchfield Park that are actively managed for cold water fish production and acid mitigation. The negative effects of acid deposition have largely been ameliorated by the application of calcium carbonate sand (lime) at regular intervals beginning in 1986. The water quality objectives for the liming operation have been to maintain an ANC of 100 μ eg/L, a pH of \geq 6.0 units, and a minimum calcium concentration of 2mg/L (Laxson and Kelting 2014; Martin 1997; Living Lakes 1992). Monitoring of the acid mitigation program was implemented by the Adirondack Watershed Institute in 1994 and was designed to: (1) document acid and trophic characteristics of the lakes, and (2) provide recommendations for acid mitigation and lake management. The data gathered by this program are intended to serve a supporting role in the management of the lakes by Litchfield Park staff.

Historical Perspective

Lake Madeleine and Heavens Lake were two of the 22 lakes selected by Living Lakes Inc. (LLI) in 1986 to participate in a liming evaluation program. Participating lakes were selected based on the criteria of depressed pH, roadside access, and land owner interest. The goal of the LLI program was to demonstrate cost effective liming strategies to neutralize acidified waters and restore acid impacted fisheries (LLI 1992). Living lakes independently developed their own criteria for acid mitigation. Their first strategy, termed mitigative liming, was used for the restoration of an acid impacted fishery and was initiated on ponds with a pH of ≤ 6 pH units and an ANC $\leq 10 \ \mu eq/L$. The second strategy, termed maintenance liming, was used to protect a susceptible fisheries in mildly acidic waters and was initiated on ponds with a pH of \leq 6.5 and an ANC \leq 100 μ eq/L. The final report from Living Lakes provides no scientific rational for these liming criteria and they do not appear to be specific to the native salmonid fishery of the Adirondack region. It's worth noting that Living Lakes was a fairly controversial entity at the time because it was created, funded, and controlled by no less than twenty major power and coal companies with essentially zero citizen input or public discussion (reviewed by Megalli and Friedman 1991). Although the media hailed the group as "lake savers" and rain", "fighters against acid scientists and environmentalists contented that the power companies were trying to mitigate a problem they created in an effort to undercut the growing support for industry regulations that would eliminate the cause acid deposition.

Initial measurements by LLI staff in the late summer of 1986 revealed the pH, ANC, and calcium concentration in Lake Madeleine to be 6.2 pH units, 32 µmol/L, and 2.7 mg/L respectively. Upstream in the smaller kettle pond known as Heavens Lake, the values were observed to be 6.1 pH units, 37.8 µmol/L, and 2.3 mg/L. Based on these observations the lakes were classified as 'mildly acidic' so the maintenance liming strategy was enacted. In the autumn of 1986, a helicopter was used to apply 90.5 metric tons of calcium carbonate sand to Lake Madeline and 6.5 metric tons to Heavens Lake (LLI 1992). The initial applications were successful at elevating the pH and bolstering the acid neutralizing capacity of the waters. Semi-annual monitoring revealed that the pH and ANC of Heavens Lake had dropped below LLI's reliming criteria so the lake was treated again in August of 1988, this time with 7.3 metric tons of lime was added with a boat mounted slurry box. Lake Madeleine, with its longer retention time and upstream additions from Heavens, did not reach LLI reliming criteria until 1990. On August 14th 1990 Lake Madeline was again treated with 90.5 metric tons of lime.

The Living Lakes Program ended in 1992 and Litchfield Park staff took over the mitigation strategy; however, accurate records of the liming rate in the early 1990's are not available. Historically, lime has been added to

Lake Madeleine (35 tons) and Heavens Lake (5 tons) every other year since 1997. The lakes were due to be limed in 2015, but the application was rescheduled to 2016 due to time constraints and the overall favorable chemical conditions of the lakes. However, unusually low water levels in 2016 prevented the treatment from occurring. In 2017, the chemical conditions of the lakes were again favorable and the decision was made to forego the treatment once again. As a result, lime has not been applied to the lake for four full seasons, the longest cessation of treatment since 1995. This provides us with an opportunity to examine how the chemistry of the lakes has responded to reduced lime application. Understanding the lakes response to decreased management effort is important because the amendments to the Clean Air Act made in 1990 have resulted in a substantial decrease in acid deposition across the Adirondacks. Data from the National Atmospheric Deposition Monitoring Program in Huntington Forest (central Adirondacks) reveals that the primary indices of acid deposition, pH, and the acid anions sulfate and nitrate, are all exhibiting significant reductions over the past 36 years (NADP 2017; Figure 1). Likewise, recent research from the 74 lakes in Northeast (60% in the Adirondacks) illustrate that several acid indicators such as sulfate concentration and ANC are exhibiting significant recovery (Strock et al 2014). Thus it is reasonable to anticipate a time when liming the Litchfield Park lakes may occur infrequently or stop all together.

The objectives of this report are twofold: First, to summarize the historical and current trophic condition of the lakes; and secondly, to assess the impact of reduced lime application on the chemical conditions of the lakes.

Methods

Litchfield Park is located the northern Adirondacks, within the Town of Tupper Lake. Lake Madeleine is

125 hectare (1 hectare \approx 2.5 acres) oligotrophic lake with 10km of shoreline and a maximum depth of 26 meters. Within the Lake Madeleine watershed is Heavens Lake an 18 hectare oligotrophic water body with 3.4km of shoreline and a maximum depth of 8 meters. Details of the lake and watershed morphology can be found in Laxson and Kelting 2014.



Figure 1. Annual average values for key acid deposition indicators at Huntington Forest in the central Adirondacks.

Field Sampling and Lab Analysis

Data was collected at the deepest point of each lake on two to five occasions during the ice free period, beginning in September of 1996 and continuing until September 2017. Transparency was observed using a 20 cm black and white Secchi disk from the shady side of the vessel. Temperature and dissolved oxygen (DO) were determined every meter from the surface to the bottom with an YSI EXO-1 sonde. Surface water samples were collected using 2 meter integrated tube sampler. The hypolimnetic water was collected with a 1 L Kemmerer Bottle from approximately 1 meter off the bottom. 250 mL of the surface water was immediately passed through a 0.45µm cellulose membrane filter. The filter was collected, wrapped in foil and put on ice for chlorophyll-a analysis. All samples were kept on ice after collection and chemically preserved or stored at 4°C until analysis could be completed. Samples were analyzed for pH, conductivity, alkalinity, total phosphorus, chlorophylla, color, sodium, chloride, and calcium at the AWI Environmental Research Lab following the analytical methods described Laxson and Kelting (2014).

Data Analysis

Trend analysis on key trophic indicators was conducted using Kendall's non-parametric correlation to test the hypothesis "there is no relationship between the indicator and time". Simple linear trend lines were fit to data with statistically significant (P<0.05) trends and displayed on the corresponding figures. Thus, absence of a line means there was no statistically significant trend in the indicator over time. Average annual values for secchi disk transparency, total phosphorus, and chlorophyll-a in the ponds were used to calculate Carlson's Trophic Status Index, (TSI), a commonly used quantitative index for classifying lakes based on trophic status (Carlson 1977). TSI values were calculated as follows:

TSI (Secchi Disk) = 60 - 16.41xln[Secchi Disk (m)] TSI (Chlorophyll) = 30.6 + 9.81xln[Chlorophyll a(µg/L)]

TSI (Total Phosphorus) = 4.15 + 14.42xln[Total Phosphorus (µg/L)]

Typically TSI values are between 0 and 100. Lakes with TSI values less 40 are classified as oligotrophic, TSI values between 40 and 50 are classified as mesotrophic, and TSI values greater than 50 are classified as eutrophic.

To assess the result of reduced lime application over the last four years we compared pH, ANC, and calcium values from 2014-2017 to the values observed during untreated years within the time period of 1998-2012 with a Mann-Whitney U test. In addition, calcium-tohydrogen ionic ratios (Ca:H) were calculated for the lakes. Ca:H ratios have been proposed as an effective index for determining suitable water chemistry for brook trout survival, with values \geq 10 being critical for egg and juvenile survival (Clayton et al. 1998), and values near 100 associated with maximum survival (Petty and Thorne 2005).

Results and Interpretation

Temperature and Dissolved Oxygen

Brook Trout and lake trout prefer temperatures below 16°C and 10°C respectively and oxygen concentration above a threshold of 5 mg/L (Coutant 1977; Smith 1985). Lake Madeleine provides the cold water and high concentration of oxygen required for trout production during most of the year (Figure 2). The maximum temperature of the epilimnion (surface strata of uniform temperature) was observed at 22 °C in mid-August, but this warm water did not extend past a depth of 4 meters. The dissolved oxygen concentration of the lake exhibited its typical clinograde profile, where oxygen concentrations are elevated in the surface water and decrease under the thermocline. Although the oxygen was depleted in the bottom four meters, the majority of the cold water area had an oxygen concentration greater than 5 mg/L (Figure 2 left).



Figure 2. Profiles of temperature (upper panels) and dissolved oxygen (lower panels) for the Litchfield Park study lakes during the field season of 2017.

Table 1. Water quality indicators for Lake Madeleine during the 2017 field season.

	Sampling Date 2017						
water Quality Indicator	6/8	7/26	8/16	9/14	Avg.		
	Surface Water (0-2 meters)						
Secchi Transparency (m)	5.5	3.9	4.7	4.8	4.7		
Total Phosphorus (µg/L)	4.0	6.8	8.4	2.1	5.3		
Chlorophyll-a (µg/L))	2.8	2.9	2.2	2.8	2.7		
Color (Pt-Co)	47.1	21.4	15.0	18.2	25.4		
Conductance (µS/cm@25°C)	13.7	14.4	11.6	13.1	13.2		
Laboratory pH	7.1	7.4	7.0	6.4	7.0		
Field pH	6.8	6.6	7.0	6.5	6.7		
Alkalinity (mg/L)	5.0	4.5	4.9	4.9	4.8		
ANC (μmol/L)	101.8	90.7	98.6	99.6	97.7		
Calcium (mg/L)	1.6	1.6	1.6	1.6	1.6		
Ca:H molar ratio	562	947	415	92	504		
Chloride (mg/L)	0.4	0.5	0.5	0.6	0.5		
Sodium (mg/L)	0.5	0.6	0.5	0.5	0.5		
	Bottom Water (~25 meters)						
Total Phosphorus (μg/L)	4.3	10.9	5.9	6.0	6.8		
Color (Pt-Co)	18.2	24.6	21.4	47.2	27.9		
Conductance (µS/cm@25°C)	14.8	16.5	16.4	19.3	16.7		
Laboratory pH	6.3	6.1	6.1	6.2	6.2		
Alkalinity (mg/L)	5.8	7.0	7.9	9.4	7.5		
ANC (μmol/L)	117.0	140.8	160.3	190.7	152.2		
Calcium (mg/L)	1.8	1.8	1.9	2.2	1.9		
Ca:H molar ratio	87	63	59	77	71		
Chloride (mg/L)	0.2	0.6	0.6	0.6	0.5		
Sodium (mg/L)	0.5	0.6	0.6	0.5	0.6		

Table 2. Water quality indicators for Heavens Lake during the 2017 field season.

Weter Ovelity Indiantar	Sampling Date 2017							
water Quality Indicator	6/8	7/26	8/16	9/14	Avg.			
	Surface Water (0-2 meters)							
Secchi Transparency (m)	5.2	4.4	4.2	4.1	4.5			
Total Phosphorus (μg/L)	3.3	3.9	3.5	2.5	3.3			
Chlorophyll-a (µg/L))	1.2	1.5	1.2	1.3	1.3			
Color (Pt-Co)	18.2	40.7	34.3	31.1	31.1			
Conductance (µS/cm@25°C)	10.9	9.0	8.0	9.2	9.3			
Laboratory pH	6.1	5.9	6.1	6.3	6.1			
Field pH	5.6	5.9	5.9	5.9	5.8			
Alkalinity (mg/L)	2.4	1.9	1.8	6.1	3.1			
ANC (µmol/L)	48.3	37.8	37.2	124.0	61.8			
Calcium (mg/L)	1.1	1.0	1.1	1.1	1.1			
Ca:H molar ratio	34.9	20.9	33.4	51.2	35.1			
Chloride (mg/L)	0.4	0.4	0.4	0.4	0.4			
Sodium (mg/L)	0.5	0.4	0.6	0.4	0.5			
	Bottom Water (7 meters)							
Total Phosphorus (μg/L)	11.8	7.0	17.9	17.6	13.6			
Color (Pt-Co)	37.3	34.3	66.5	60.0	49.5			
Conductance (µS/cm@25°C)	13.1	11.5	15.0	15.2	13.7			
Laboratory pH	5.8	5.8	5.8	6.0	5.8			
Alkalinity (mg/L)	4.1	4.0	6.4	6.5	5.2			
ANC (µmol/L)	82.8	79.8	129.8	130.8	105.8			
Calcium (mg/L)	1.6	1.4	2.0	2.0	1.8			
Ca:H molar ratio	26.4	23.3	31.3	46.4	31.9			
Chloride (mg/L)	0.2	0.4	0.5	0.5	0.4			
Sodium (mg/L)	0.5	0.5	0.6	0.5	0.5			

In Heavens Lake, the maximum temperature observed was also 22°C in mid-August and this warm water did not extend past a depth 2 meters. The dissolved oxygen concentration was rapidly depleted under the thermocline, with the bottom 1.5 meters of the pond essentially devoid of oxygen by late July (Figure 2 right). The combination of warm surface water and anoxic bottom water likely causes the brook trout to congregate within a depth of 3 to 5 meters (10 - 16 feet) during July and August (Figure 2 right).

Trophic Indicators

Both Madeleine and Heavens are oligotrophic. Oligotrophic lakes are typified by limited dissolved nutrients resulting in low algal productivity and high transparency. The Trophic State Index for Lake Madeleine calculated with secchi transparency (38), chlorophyll (39), and total phosphorus (26) all indicated an oligotrophic classification for the lake in 2017. The trophic state of the lake has been oligotrophic since monitoring began with all three indicators generally in close agreement (Figure 3).

Total phosphorus concentrations were low in the epilimnion in 2017, and ranged from approximately 2 μ g/L to 8.4 μ g/L, with slightly higher values observed in the bottom water (Table 1). Over the period of AWI monitoring, average annual total phosphorus concentration in the epilimnion has ranged from 1.8 to 9.2 μ g/L. with a significant downward trend in data at a rate of approximately 0.1 μ g/L/year (Figure 3). Chlorophyll-a concentrations exhibited little variation around the average of 2.7 μ g/L in 2017. Historically, average annual chlorophyll-a concentrations have ranged from 1.1 to 4.1 μ g/L with no significant trend detected in the data. Secchi transparency averaged 4.7 meters, which was the lowest average observed since the AWI began monitoring the lake. Over the 24 years of monitoring, average annual Secchi transparency has ranged from 4.7 to 11.4 meters, with significant downward trend at a rate of а approximately 12 cm/year (Figure 3; P < 0.01). The reason for the downward trend in transparency is unclear. The pattern does not appear to be related to nutrients or algal productivity, as chlorophyll-a has not exhibited any significant trend and phosphorus concentration has been decreasing over time. Analysis of 122 Adirondack lakes, as well as recent scientific publications, suggests the decreased transparency may be a regional response related to changes in climatic patterns and acid deposition recovery.

The Trophic State Index for Heavens calculated with secchi transparency (39), chlorophyll (39), and total phosphorus (35) all indicated an oligotrophic classification the lake in 2017. Similar to Madeleine, the trophic state of the Heavens Lake has been oligotrophic since monitoring began with all three indicators generally in close agreement (Figure 3). Secchi transparency averaged 4.5 meters in 2017. Historically, average annual Secchi transparency have ranged from 3.7 to 5.9 meters, with no observable trend detected in the data (P =0.21). Total phosphorus concentrations were low in the epilimnion in 2017, and ranged from a 2.5 μ g/L to 3.9 μ g/L (Table 1). We observed the phosphorus concentration in the bottom water to be four times higher, and ranged from 7 to 17.9 μ g/L. The elevated phosphorus concentration is due to the anoxic conditions at the bottom of the lake. The absence of oxygen creates a reducing environment along the bottom which allows phosphate to leak out of the lake sediments. Over the period of AWI monitoring, average annual total phosphorus concentration in the surface water has ranged from 2.7 to 18.3 µg/L. with no observable trend detected in the historical data. Surface water chlorophyll-a concentration exhibited little variation around the average of 1.3 μ g/L in 2017. Historically, average annual chlorophyll-a concentrations have ranged from 1.2 to 4.6 µg/L with no significant trend detected in the data.



Figure 3. Annual average values for the key trophic indicators for Lake Madeleine (left) and Heavens Lake (right) from 1994-2012. Error bars represent one standard deviation of the mean, solid line denotes a significant historical trend.



Figure 4. Lime treatment and acidity indicators of Lake Madeleine 1986 - 2017. Each point represents an observation on a single sample day. Shaded areas for ANC, pH, and calcium represent target values established by Living Lakes (1992). The shaded area for Ca:H represent critical values above 10 (Clayton et al 1998).



Figure 5. Lime treatment and acidity indicators of Heavens Lake 1986 - 2017. Each point represents an observation on a single sample day. Shaded areas for ANC, pH, and calcium represent target values established by Living Lakes (1992). The shaded area for Ca:H represent critical values above 10 (Clayton et al 1998).

Acidity Indicators

Lime has not been added to either of the study lakes since 2013. As we expected, the reduction in lime application has resulted in a drop in the ANC as well as the calcium concentrations; however, the reduced application has not resulted in an increase in the acidity (Figures 4 and 5)

The acid neutralizing capacity in the surface water of Madeleine ranged from 90.7 to 101.8 µmol/L in 2017, very close to the target value of 100 µmol/L. ANC values were approximately 35% higher in the bottom water, were they ranged from 117 to 190 µmol/L. We found that the ANC of Lake Madeleine has significantly decreased since the last time lime was last added in 2013. The median ANC value for the untreated years between 1998 and 2012 was 200 µmol/L, while the median value for the last four years was 118 µmol/ (Figure 5; P < 0.001). The calcium concentration in the surface water exhibited little variation across the season and averaged 1.6 mg/L in the surface water and 1.9 mg/L in the bottom water, slightly below the prescribed target level of 2.0 mg/L. Similar to ANC, we observed a significant decrease in calcium since the last regular lime application in 2013. The median calcium concentration for the untreated years between 1998-2012 was 3.6 mg/L, while the median concentration for the last four years was 2 mg/L (Figure 6; P < 0.001).

Despite the reductions observed in the ANC and calcium concentrations, the acidity of the surface water in 2017 was circumneutral, and ranged from 6.4 to 7.4 pH units. In the bottom water the pH values were slightly lower and ranged from 6.1 to 6.3 (Table 1). Depressed pH near the bottom is expected due to the decomposition of accumulated organic material. Interestingly, we observed that the pH of Madeleine has not significantly changed since the last time lime was last added in 2013. The median pH value for the untreated years between 1998 and 2012 was 6.7 pH units. The median pH value for the last four years was

6.8 pH units, with no significant difference between the two treatment efforts (Figure 5; P=0.12).

The pattern in Heavens Lake is similar to Madeleine, although Heavens Lake tends to be more acidic than Lake Madeline, its higher elevation, low retention time, and shallower soils offer less natural buffering ability. The acid neutralizing capacity in the surface water in 2017 was typically below the target value of 100, and ranged from 37.8 to 124 μ mol/L. ANC values were approximately 40% higher in the bottom water, were they ranged from 82 to 130.8 μ mol/L. The calcium concentration in the surface water in 2017 was below the target range of 2.0 mg/L, and averaged 1.1 mg/L.

The pH values of the surface water of Heavens fluctuated around the target value, and ranged from 5.9 to 6.3. In the hypolimnion, the pH values were similar and ranged from 5.8 to 6.0 (Table 2). Regardless of the reduced buffering ability we found that the pH of the lake was slightly, yet statistically greater over the past four years than it was during the regular liming phase. The median pH value for the untreated years between 1998 and 2012 was 6.4 pH units, while the median pH value for the last four years was 6.7 pH units (Figure 6; P=0.03).

We believe the acceptable and stable pH values of the study lakes are driven by the sizable decrease in acid deposition in the area. Although the buffering ability of the lake has not been augmented by lime, less acid is being deposited on the watershed from the atmosphere. For example, the acidity of rain water in the central Adirondacks is 8 times less acidic in 2017 than it was in 1986, the first year of lime application (Figure 1; NADP 2018).

Overall, the Litchfield Park Lakes continues to provide a suitable chemical environment for the primary species of interest, brook trout (both lakes) and lake trout (Madeline only). It's important to point out that brook and lake trout are more acid tolerant than other freshwater fish species (Daye and Garside 1975,



Figure 6. Box plots of acid indicators of Lake Madeleine (left column) and Heavens lake (right column) during the period when lime was added to the study lakes on a biennial bases (1998-2012) and the recent time period when lime has not been applied (2014-2017). The box represents 50% of the data, with the horizontal line indicating the median. The boundary of the box closest to zero indicating the 25th percentile and the boundary furthest from zero indicating the 75th percentile. Whiskers above and below the box equal the 90th and 10th percentiles. Points represent data outside the range described above. The horizontal dashed line indicates the target value for each analyte.

Beemish 1976). Although the optimal pH range for survival and reproduction appears to be between 6.5 and 8.0, the tolerance range is much wider and likely between 4.0 and 9.0 (reviewed by Raleigh 1982). The Litchfield park lakes are mildly acidic to circumneutral, suggesting the acidity is not an issue of concern at this time. Severely acidic lakes are hard on juvenile trout due to the interaction between acidity, low calcium, and high aluminum that ultimately causes problems with sodium balance and oxygen exchange at the gill (Mount et al. 1988, Baker and Schofield 1982, Leivestad et al 1976). The presence of calcium has been shown to increase the tolerance of young brook trout to the harmful effects of toxic aluminum (McClurg et al. 1997 Ingersoll et al. 1990). Because of this, the Ca:H ratio is a useful index for determining suitable chemical conditions for aquatic organisms in relation to acidity. A Ca:H ratio of 10 was suggested by Clayton et al (1998) as a better index for brook trout success than pH, alkalinity or calcium alone. The Ca:H ratios of both Madeleine and Heavens Lakes rarely fall below the threshold level of 10, in fact during the vast majority of observations they are near or above the optimal value of 100 (Petty and Thorne 2005), suggesting that the chemistry of these lakes is favorable to native trout species. It is important to recognize that this analysis of chemical suitability is fairly liberal because data was not collected during spring runoff, when acidity is greatest, nor does it represent stream environments where brook trout tend to spawn.

Conclusion and Recommendations

In conclusion, we recommend that the acid mitigation strategy employed at Litchfield Park be changed from biennial application to only when necessary. The reason for this are: (1) Acid deposition in our area has significantly declined since liming began in the late 1980's. (2) Currently the lakes are only managed for brook and lake trout, and these species are more acid tolerant than species previously stocked, such as rainbow trout. (3) Calcium to hydrogen ratios of the lakes suggests a favorable chemical environment for local trout species. The option to lime should be discussed if the acidify of the lakes falls below a pH 6.0 units.

References

ALSC. 2014. Adirondack Lake Survey Corporation. Historical Data Webpage. Accessed 1/4/2018 http://www.adirondacklakessurvey.org/historic.php

Bachmann, R.W., B.L. Jones, D.D. Fox, M. Hoyer, L.A. Bull, and D.E. Canfield. 1996. Relations between trophic state indicators and fish in Florida (U.S.A.) lakes. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences, 53:842-855.

Baker, J.P. and C.L. Schofield. 1982. Aluminum toxicity to fish in acidic waters. Water, Air, and Soil Pollution. 18, 289-309.

Bertrand-Krajewski, J.L. 2004. TSS concentrations in sewers estimated from turbidity measurements by means of linear regression accounting for uncertainties in both variables. Water Science and Technology, 50(11):81-88.

Bukaveckas, P. A., and C.T. Driscoll. 1991. Effects of whole-lake base addition on thermal stratification in three acidic Adirondack lakes. Water, Air, and Soil Pollution, 59(1-2), 23-39.

Carmichael, W.W. 2008. A world overview onehundred, twenty-seven years of research on toxic cyanobacteria--Where do we go from here? In: Hudnell, H.K. (ed.) *Cyanobacterial Harmful Algal Blooms: State of the Science and Research Needs.* Advances in Experimental Medicine & Biology, Vol. 619. Springer. 500 pp.

Carlisle, F.J. 1952. Soil Survey of Franklin County, New York. Cornell University Agricultural Experiment Station. Series 1952, No. 1. 79p.

Carlson, R.E. 1977. A trophic state index for lakes. Limnology and Oceanography, 22(2):361-369.

Carpenter, S.R., J.F. Kitchell, and J.R. Hodgson. 1985. Cascading trophic interactions and lake productivity. Bioscience, 35(10):634-639.

Clayton, J. L.,E.S. Dannaway, R. Menende, H.W. Rauch, J.J. Renton, S.M. Sherlock, and P.E. Zurbuch. 1998. Application of limestone to restore fish communities in acidified streams. North American Journal of Fisheries Management, 18(2), 347-360.

Cleveland, L., E.E., Little, S.J. Hamilton, D.T. Buckler, and J.B. Hunn. 1986. Interactive toxicity of aluminum and acidity to early life stages of brook trout. Transactions of the American Fisheries Society, 115(4), 610-620.

Cohen, A. 2004. Calcium requirements and the spread of zebra mussels. California Sea Grant, Coastal Ocean Research, San Francisco Estuary Institute. 2p.

Corsi, S.R., Graczyk, D.J., Geis, S.W., Booth, N.L., and Richards, K.D. 2010. A fresh look at road salt: aquatic toxicity and water quality impacts on local, regional, and national scales. Environmental Science and Technology, 44(19):7376-7382.

Daley, M.L., J.D. Potter, and W.H. McDowell. 2009. Salinization of urbanizing New Hampshire streams and groundwater: effects of road salt and hydrologic variability. Journal of the North American Benthological Society, 28(4):929–940.

Davies-Colley, R.J., and D.G. Smith. 2001. Turbidity, suspended sediment, and water clarity: a review. Journal of the American Water Resources Association, 37(5):1085-1101.

Daye, P. G., and E.T. Garside. 1975. Lethal levels of pH for brook trout, Salvelinus fontinalis (Mitchill). Canadian Journal of Zoology, 53(5), 639-641.

Dillon, P.J., and L.A. Molot. 1997. Dissolved organic and inorganic carbon mass balances in central Ontario lakes. Biogeochemistry, 36:29-42.

Driscoll, C.T., K.M. Driscoll, M.J. Mitchell, and D.J. Raynal. 2003. Effects of acidic deposition on forest and aquatic ecosystems in New York State. Environmental Pollution, 123:327–336.

Driscoll, C. T., Driscoll, K. M., Roy, K. M., & Mitchell, M. J. (2003). Chemical response of lakes in the Adirondack region of New York to declines in acidic deposition. *Environmental Science & Technology*, *37*(10), 2036-2042.

Driscoll, C. T., G.G. Lawrence, A.J. Bulger, T.J. Butler, C.S. Cronan, C. Eagar,... and K.C. Weathers 2001. Acidic Deposition in the Northeastern United States: Sources and Inputs, Ecosystem Effects, and Management Strategies The effects of acidic deposition in the northeastern United States include the acidification of soil and water, which stresses terrestrial and aquatic biota. BioScience, 51(3), 180-198.

Galloway, J.N. and D.M. Wlelpdale. 1980. An Atmospheric sulfur budget for eastern North America. Atmospheric Environ, 14: 409-417.

Gloss, S. P., C.L. Schofield, R.L., Spateholts, and B.A. Plonski. 1989. Survival, growth, reproduction, and diet of brook trout (Salvelinus fontinalis) stocked into lakes after liming to mitigate acidity. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences, 46(2), 277-286.

Godfrey, P.J., M.D. Mattson, M.-F. Walk, P.A. Kerr, O.T. Zajicek, and A.Ruby III. 1996. The Massachusetts Acid Rain Monitoring Project: Ten Years of Monitoring Massachusetts Lakes and Streams with Volunteers. Publication No. 171. University of Massachusetts Water Resources Research Center.

Ingersoll, C. G., D.R. Mount, D.D. Gulley, T.L. Point, and H.L. Bergman 1990. Effects of pH, aluminum, and

calcium on survival and growth of eggs and fry of brook trout (Salvelinus fontinalis). Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences, 47(8), 1580-1592.

Katsev, S., I. Tsandev, I. L'Heureux, and D.G. Rancourt. 2006. Factors controlling long-term phosphorus efflux from lake sediments: Exploratory reactive-transport modeling. Chemical Geology, 234:127-147.

Kelting, D.L., C.L. Laxson, E.C. Yerger. 2012. A regional analysis of the effect of paved roads on sodium and chloride in lakes. Water Research, 46(8):2749-2758.

Kretser, W., J. Gallagher, and J. Nicollette. 1989. Adirondack Lakes Study, 1984-1987: An Evaluation of Fish Communities and Water Chemistry. Adirondack Lakes Survey Corporation, 345 pp., Ray Brook NY 1989.

Lawrence, G. B., M.B. David, G.M. Lovett, P.S. Murdoch, D.A. Burns, L.J. Stoddard,.... and A.W. Thompson. 1999. Soil calcium status and the response of stream chemistry to changing acidic deposition rates. Ecological Applications, 9(3), 1059-1072.

Leivestad, H., G. Hendry, I. Muniz, and E. Snekvikl. 1976. Effects of acid precipitation on freshwater organisms. In: Impact of acid precipitation on forest and freshwater ecosystems in Norway. Ed. Breakke, F.H. pp: 87-111.

Living Lakes Inc. 1992. Living Lakes Program Final Report: Lake Madeleine and Heavens Lake. LLI, Greenbelt Maryland.

McAvoy, D. C., & Driscoll, C. T. (1989). The chemical response following base application to Little Simon Pond, New York State. *Research Journal of the Water Pollution Control Federation*, 1552-1563.

McClurg, S. E. J.T. Petty, P.M. Mazik, and J.L. Clayton. 2007. Stream ecosystem response to limestone treatment in acid impacted watersheds of the Allegheny Plateau. Ecological Applications, 17(4), 1087-1104.

Megalli, M. and A. Friedman. 1991. *Masks of Deception: Corporate Front Groups in America*. Essential Information, Washington D.C.

Menendez, R., J.L. Clayton, and P.E. Zurbuch. 1996. Chemical and fishery responses to mitigative liming of an acidic stream, Dogway Fork, West Virginia. Restoration Ecology, 4(3), 220-233.

Monteith, D.T., J.L. Stoddard, C.D. Evans, H.A. deWit, M. Forsius, T. Høgåsen, A. Wilander, B.L. Skjelkvåle, D.S. Jeffries, J. Vuorenmaa, B. Keller, J. Kopácek, and J. Vesely. 2007. Dissolved organic carbon trends resulting from changes in atmospheric deposition chemistry. Nature, 450(22):537-541.

Mount, D. R., Ingersoll, C. G., Gulley, D. D., Fernandez, J. D., LaPoint, T. W., & Bergman, H. L. (1988). Effect of long-term exposure to acid, aluminum, and low calcium on adult brook trout (Salvelinus fontinalis). 1. Survival, growth, fecundity, and progeny survival. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences, 45(9), 1623-1632.

NADP-NTS (2018) National Atmospheric Deposition Program – National Trend Network. Data from monitoring station NY20. Accessed 1/12/2018. http://nadp.sws.uiuc.edu/NTN/ntnData.aspx

Petty, J. T., and D. Thorne. 2005. An Ecologically Based Approach to Identifying Restoration Priorities in an Acid-Impacted Watershed. Restoration Ecology, 13(2), 348-357.

Porcella, D. B. (1989). Lake acidification mitigation project (LAMP): an overview of an ecosystem perturbation experiment. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences*, *46*(2), 246-248.

Smeltzer, E., W.W. Walker Jr., V. Garrison. 1989. Eleven years of lake Eutrophication monitoring in Vermont: a critical evaluation. Enhancing States' Lake Management Program, 1989:53-62.

Smith, L. C. 1985. The Fishes of New York State. Albany. Department of Environmental Conservation

Strock, K. E., Nelson, S. J., Kahl, J. S., Saros, J. E., & McDowell, W. H. (2014). Decadal trends reveal recent acceleration in the rate of recovery from acidification in the Northeastern US. *Environmental science & technology*, *48*(9), 4681-4689.

Søndergaard, M., J.P. Jensen, and E. Jeppesen. 2003. Role of sediment and internal loading of phosphorus in shallow lakes. Hydrobiologia, 506-509:135-145.

Wetzel, R.G. 2001. Limnology, Lake and River Ecosystems, 3rd Edition. Academic Press, New York. 1006pp.

White, D.J., M.R. Noll, and J.C. Makarewicz. 2008. Does manganese influence phosphorus cycling under suboxic lake water conditions? Journal of Great Lakes Research, 34(4):571-580.